
851 S.W. Sixth Avenue, Suite 1100                                           Steve Crow                                                                         503-222-5161 
Portland, Oregon 97204-1348                                             Executive Director                                                                   800-452-5161 
www.nwcouncil.org                                                                                                                                                      Fax: 503-820-2370 

W. Bill Booth 
Chair 
Idaho 

Bruce A. Measure 
Vice-Chair 
Montana 

 

James A. Yost 
Idaho 

 
Tom Karier 
Washington 

 
Dick Wallace 
Washington 

 
 

 

Rhonda Whiting 
Montana 

 
Melinda S. Eden 

Oregon 
 

Joan M. Dukes 
Oregon 

 

 

 
Council Meeting 

Via Webinar 
 

November 12-13, 2009 
 

Minutes 
 

Council chair Bill Booth opened the meeting by taking roll call to make sure Council attendees 
had made the phone connection for the “webinar.”  All members were present. 

Reports from Fish and Wildlife, Power and Public Affairs committee chair:   
Rhonda Whiting chair, fish and wildlife committee; Melinda Eden, chair, power committee; 
and Dick Wallace, chair, public affairs committee. 

Fish and Wildlife Committee chair Rhonda Whiting reported that the committee was briefed on 
the Corps’ Anadromous Fish Evaluation Program (AFEP) and that a decision on whether to 
approve the AFEP study design would come before the full Council.  She said the committee 
discussed three within-year funding requests and a Columbia Basin Accord project related to 
Deschutes River fall chinook research and monitoring.  The committee had an update on the 
anadromous fish research, monitoring, and evaluation work, she said, noting that a draft RME 
strategy would be out in December. 

Power Committee chair Melinda Eden reported on the staff’s overview of what needs to be done 
to move the draft Sixth Power Plan to a final document.  She listed the issues that staff identified 
from 769 public comments received and activities that would be undertaken to update the 
analysis in the plan, including conservation supply curves, impact of California’s expanded RPS, 
and carbon emissions. 

Public Affairs Committee chair Dick Wallace reported that the published version of the fish and 
wildlife program is available and will be mailed to several hundred people on the Council’s 
mailing list.  The next Council Quarterly is near completion, and a final draft of the history of 
conservation in the region will soon go out to Public Affairs Committee members, he said.  The 
Council’s annual report to Congress is in draft form and is ready for a Council decision to release 
it for public comment, Wallace reported.   



 2

1. Council decision on project reviews and within-year adjustments:  
Mark Fritsch, manager, project implementation. 

Staffer Mark Fritsch reported that the Budget Oversight Group (BOG) reviewed 20 projects 
submitted in the past quarter for budget adjustments.  Comment on the projects closed October 
23, he said, and four have been brought forward for action.   

The only capital request is from BPA for $50,000 associated with well monitoring to meet a 
temporary water permit requirement at the Yakima/Klickitat Fisheries Project, Fritsch said.  
Eden questioned whether well monitoring is a capital expense.  Fritsch responded that the 
monitoring is associated with construction of a fisheries facility and is part of the liability for the 
construction project.   

A second request is from the Idaho Department of Fish and Game for $50,000 to cover a 
conservation easement, he continued.  The negotiations for acquiring the easement are still going 
on, so the F&W committee recommended deferring the request until the negotiations are 
complete, Fritsch reported. 

A third request from the Grand Ronde tribe is new and seeks coordination funds to cover 
participation in local efforts, including the Willamette biological opinion, he said.  This would be 
over and above the current funds allocated for coordination, Fritsch explained.   

Cheryle Kennedy, chair of the Grand Ronde tribal council, appeared in support of the request.  
She said the tribe is a sovereign entity recognized by the federal government,and we believe in 
conservation of resources, and request the funds to participate in forums aimed at stewardship of 
land. 

Fritsch explained a request from the Idaho Office of Species Conservation for $243,059 to be 
used for habitat restoration in the Lemhi district.  This is a project related to the Federal 
Columbia River Power System (FCRPS) biological opinion, but the funds would not come from 
those set aside for the Columbia Basin Fish Accord between BPA and the state of Idaho, he said. 

Measure made a motion that the Council approve the three within-year Fish and Wildlife 
Program project funding adjustments for implementation as defined and conditioned by the staff 
and as recommended by the Fish and Wildlife Committee.  The projects are:  Yakima River 
Design and Construction-Yakima/Klickitat Fisheries Project #1988-115-25; Grand Ronde Tribe 
Coordination #2009-025-00; and Idaho Watershed Habitat Restoration-Lemhi District #2007-
394-00.  Dukes seconded the motion. 

The funding motion passed unanimously. 

Fritsch went on to explain the Deschutes River fall chinook research and monitoring project.  
The ISRP found the project met scientific criteria in part and received a qualified funding 
recommendation.  The problems with the scientific criteria have been corrected and the qualified 
funding recommendation can be dealt with in the BPA contracting process, Fritsch said. 

Measure made a motion that the Council support implementation of Project 2008-306-00, 
Deschutes River Fall Chinook Research and Monitoring, provided the project sponsor address 
and future reviews reflect the qualifications and responses identified by the ISRP, as presented 



 3

by the staff and as recommended by the Fish and Wildlife Committee.  Dukes seconded the 
motion, which passed unanimously. 

2. AFEP Project - Acoustic Telemetry Evaluation of Dam Passage Survival 
and Associated Metrics at John Day, The Dalles, and Bonneville dams:   
Jim Ruff, manager, Mainstem passage and river operations. 

Staffer Jim Ruff reported on a Corps of Engineers study “Statistical Design for the Lower 
Columbia River Acoustic-Tag Investigations of Dam Passage Survival and Associated Metrics” 
to measure salmon and steelhead passage at three mainstem Columbia River dams:  John Day, 
The Dalles, and Bonneville.  The results of the study will be used to measure whether survival 
meets performance standards in the 2008 Federal Columbia River Power System (FCRPS) 
Biological Opinion (BiOp), he said.   

In its review, the Independent Scientific Review Panel found the study proposal to be sound and 
thoughtfully prepared, he continued.  The ISRP said the survival model proposed is grounded in 
standard statistical methods and incorporates advances that have recently appeared in scientific 
literature, Ruff said.   

Based on the ISRP review, staff recommends the Council approve the study design for 2010 and 
2011, he stated.  Ruff noted that while the study plan was to include all three dams, an outage at 
the second powerhouse at Bonneville Dam makes it problematic to start the test there yet.   

The ISRP was concerned about the sample size, and although it was established by researchers at 
the University of Washington and had been reviewed and deemed adequate, the project sponsors 
are adding 25 percent more tagged fish than originally proposed, he said.   

Brad Eppard of the Corps said the sample size is just over 20,000 fish and would be made up of 
three species.  He also pointed out that the fish released for the study will be used for the Pacific 
Ocean Shelf Tracking (POST) study.  It is a cost savings for the project and adds value in terms 
of the fish that are tagged, Eppard said. 

This is a sophisticated and expensive project, Karier commented.  And it underscores what the 
ISRP has called for in terms of overlapping studies when possible to increase their cost-
effectiveness, he said. 

Ruff pointed out that because of the logistics and expense, structural improvements at the dams 
need to be complete and operations in place before the study begins.  If the spill wall at The 
Dalles Dam isn’t complete, for example, we’ll postpone at that site, Eppard agreed.  Right now, 
work on the wall is two or three weeks ahead of schedule, he added. 

Measure made a motion that the Council support the study design, as reviewed by the 
Independent Scientific Review Panel, of the Statistical Design for the Lower Columbia River 
Acoustic-Tag Investigations of Dam Passage Survival and Associated Metrics as presented by 
the staff and recommended by the Fish and Wildlife Committee.  Eden seconded the motion, 
which passed unanimously.  



 4

3. Working session on Draft Sixth Power Plan Issues:   
Terry Morlan, director, power division. 

Staffer Terry Morlan began his presentation on comments the Council received on its draft Sixth 
Power Plan by stating that participation in the process “has been remarkable” and exceeds that of 
any other plan.  We received 769 comments, many of which were good and useful, and there was 
a diversity of interests represented among the commenters, he said.     

Morlan presented a summary of major issues raised in the comments and the staff’s proposed 
responses.  The following are highlights from his presentation and the Council’s discussion. 

Carbon Emissions  Comments said the Council’s draft plan does nothing to reduce carbon and 
fails to advocate for a specific level of emissions.  Morlan said staff rejects the first assertion, 
noting that the emphasis on conservation and energy efficiency in the plan amounts to carbon 
reduction.  He offered graphs to illustrate how much conservation will reduce future carbon 
emissions.  With regard to the second point, the Council does not set environmental policy, but 
provides information to inform policy and to help the power system respond to potential policies, 
Morlan said. 

The Council does take positions on environmental issues, Joan Dukes said, citing the inclusion of 
toxics and climate change in the fish and wildlife (F&W) program.  Staffer John Shurts said the 
Council’s task is to look across a 20-year horizon and provide information on resources to be 
added to the power system.  It is not our task to set an emissions target, he stated. 

Dukes said the Council could offer such a recommendation to those who make policy.  It doesn’t 
seem it would be inconsistent to look at carbon emissions and their effect on F&W, she said.  I 
am challenging us to take a harder look at integrating the F&W program and the power plan, 
Dukes added. 

Morlan said the Power Committee requested an analysis be added to the plan that looks at a 
particular level of carbon and determines actions that would be needed to meet such a reduction.  
To determine a carbon level for the analysis, we looked at targets in the renewable portfolio 
standards (RPS) in Washington and Oregon, the Western Climate Initiative, and the Waxman-
Markey bill in Congress and came up with something that is a rough average of the reductions 
contemplated in those sources, he explained.      

Conservation and Renewables  Comments said the Council should increase the amount of 
conservation and renewables and has not been aggressive about forecasting new conservation 
technologies.  Morlan said staff proposes to add text that points out the constraints of section 
3(4)(A) of the Northwest Power Act involving “similarly reliable and available” resources.  The 
Council includes new technologies whenever it develops a new power plan, and it is prudent to 
continue that approach, he stated. 

Comments said the five-year conservation target is too high and that the lower end of the range 
should be 1,000 MW.  Morlan said this has been a huge issue, and staff has negotiated with 
utilities on the target and made changes.  He pointed out there would be an interim review of the 
five-year target.  We will look at our assumptions, see if they are too far off, and consider 
whether we should revise the plan, Morlan said.   



 5

Comments said the Council should include better incentives to achieve conservation, including 
higher prices, improved consumer decision-making, and removal of barriers.   Morlan said all are 
potential approaches to achieving conservation.  The Northwest Energy Efficiency Taskforce is 
addressing this issue, and an action item in the plan supports those efforts. 

Coal-fired Generation  Comments said the draft plan should call for elimination of coal-fired 
plants.  We have already excluded new pulverized coal from potential new resources, and the 
plan provides information and analysis on the role of coal in the region’s carbon emissions, 
Morlan said.  We also have scenarios demonstrating the effect of retiring coal plants, he added. 

Lower Snake River Dams  Comments said the draft plan should call for removing the dams.  
That is an issue for the F&W program or the Biological Opinion, Morlan said, adding that so far, 
dam removal has not been seen as necessary for recovery or a cost-effective strategy.  The plan 
provides some analysis to inform further discussions about dam removal, he noted. 

Eden said the Power Committee discussed the issue and felt the plan may need to include more 
explanation of the Council’s analysis of dam removal. 

Needs Assessment  Comments said the Council should include a simple assessment of resource 
needs early in the plan.  Morlan said graphs would be added to meet this request, and he showed 
examples of graphs that present the load forecast and existing firm resources.   

Eden said the graphs must include a clear explanation of how the utility calculations of existing 
firm resources differ from the resources available to meet regional load.  The Council uses the 
latter, which includes independent power plants, to determine resource adequacy.  Without a 
good explanation, this will be “ripe for confusion” and misuse, she stated. 

Adequacy and Reliability  Comments said the Council should demonstrate the plan will result 
in an adequate and reliable power system.  Morlan said a graphic explanation could be provided 
of how the plan meets both energy and capacity needs.  We intend to build these graphics and 
include them in the appropriate section, he added.   

Wind Exports  Comments said the plan should address the effects of wind generation being 
exported from the region with or without renewable energy credits (RECs).  We agree and 
propose to include the effect of wind exports on the region’s ability to use that power to serve 
regional load and to meet the RPS, Morlan said.  We will also enhance the action plan to include 
further study of this issue, he said. 

Quantifying Environmental Costs  Comments said the draft plan does not appear to comply 
with the Power Act's requirement that the Council have a methodology to assess the 
environmental costs of resources.  We agree, Morlan stated, pointing out that such a 
methodology has not been specifically addressed since the 1986 plan.   

We propose to add a new environmental cost methodology as an appendix, Morlan said.  The 
methodology will have four components: existing environmental regulations and their costs; the 
potential cost of revised or new regulations; consideration of environmental benefits; and 
recognition of residual environmental costs.   



 6

I look forward to seeing what was done in 1986 and how we can improve on it, Wallace said.  
How we frame this will be important; I see a difference between an avoided environmental cost 
and an actual benefit, he stated.  Staff will circulate the 1986 plan appendix to Council members 
and draft an environmental cost methodology for Council review, Morlan said. 

The plan talks about the environmental costs and benefits of resources, but hasn't explicitly 
explained the methodology we are using, Shurts added.  In response to a question from Eden 
about whether there would need to be another round of public review, he said he would look at 
the methodology once it is written, along with other revisions to the plan, to make sure they 
don’t get too far from what's in the draft.  I don't foresee that an additional comment period will 
be needed, but I'm being cautious – until we see the text of the new sections, I can't be absolutely 
sure, Shurts said. 

Diversity of Impacts  Comments said the plan should recognize that the costs of carbon 
reductions or dam removal would not be uniform across the region.  We agree, Morlan said, 
adding that investor-owned utilities own most of the region’s coal plants.  We propose to add a 
discussion about that, he said.   

Display of Power System Costs  Comments said the Council should explore better ways to 
display future power system costs.  Morlan noted that the Council consistently uses net present 
value for system costs, which is a well-established approach.  He agreed there are other ways to 
display future costs to consumers and offered examples.  Tom Karier suggested adding a 
discussion in the text about using nominal pricing. 

Bruce Measure pointed out that with “the green power revolution,” new transmission facilities 
and renewable resources will be needed.  But the graphics show a decline in costs, he said.  
Morlan responded that the cost of transmission and depreciation of existing plants was not 
included in the sample graphs. 

Booth questioned a graph that tracked rates and customer bills over time.  What’s happening 
there?  Do we have no new investment?  he asked.  It’s counter-intuitive that rates and bills are 
going down, as the graph suggests, Booth commented.   

Morlan said the graph displays the operating cost of plants and reflects such factors as the 
declining cost of natural gas.  We also have met the RPS in the out years, so expenses are going 
down, he explained.   

Nuclear Power  Comments said the draft plan does not consider nuclear power.  Morlan pointed 
out that the draft includes considerable discussion of nuclear generation, and that it is not cost-
effective in the analysis until late in the planning period.  There are risks with nuclear power that 
drive up the costs, and it is capital-intensive, he said.  We could clarify that more in the text, 
Morlan stated.  It’s a long-term resource, but there are technological advancements taking place, 
he said.   

Cost of Fish Operations  Comments said the cost of fish operations in Appendix M should not 
be calculated using the priority firm (PF) rate for power.  We agree the PF rate is not the way to 
go, but it is difficult to figure out what the right approach is, Morlan said.  He added that the cost 
calculation has no effect on the plan or the choice of resources, but it is an impact on hydro 



 7

operations in the future.  We propose to remove the calculation of costs, Morlan stated.  We 
could include a conceptual discussion of the costs without a calculation, he said. 

Regional Portfolio Model (RPM)  Comments said the Council should reconsider its planning 
model and increase its ability to address capacity and flexibility issues.  Morlan said the plan 
includes an action item on the portfolio model, adding that “we’re not ready to scrap the RPM.” 

BPA Action Items  Comments said the Council should delete a statement that conservation 
should be funded primarily as a Tier 1 cost.  Morlan said that was one of the Council’s principles 
for the Regional Dialogue and it should remain.  With regard to BPA providing service to the 
DSIs, he said the item could be dropped since it provides no important guidance.   

Karier suggested the item on the DSIs be rewritten rather than deleted.  We need to remind BPA 
of these goals for DSI service, he indicated. 

Long-Term F&W Forum  Comments said the forum called for in the action plan duplicates 
existing efforts.  Morlan proposed a change to the action item to state the Council would 
investigate the need for a long-term coordination forum, rather than aim to form one.   

Staffer John Fazio said the idea was to have a forum with power planners and F&W managers to 
discuss planning and how resource choices affect F&W.  Wallace said he agreed with the thrust 
of the forum.  I haven’t seen a place for this to occur, he said, adding that the Council should 
keep the discussion of such a forum alive.   

Resources for Balancing Reserves  Comments said the Council has not included resources for 
balancing reserves nor reflected the fuel use for such generation.  Morlan said the issue of 
balancing reserves is being addressed in the region.  It is not clear how much generation would 
be involved in providing the reserves, and we don’t need to include those resources, he said.   

We are already facing issues with this in the region, including in southern Idaho, Booth said.  
This issue is lightly addressed, and I’d like to see us strengthen it a bit, he added.  Morlan said 
staff would give it more prominence.  Staffer Jeff King pointed out that it would not be difficult 
to run sensitivity analyses in Aurora that target individual areas to illustrate the problem. 

RPS Analysis  Comments said the Council has not recognized the rate caps in the RPS.  Morlan 
said the effect of the caps would be difficult to predict and probably is not large.   Staff proposes 
to address this issue by reducing the addition of RPS renewables to the power supply by 5 
percent, he noted. 

There is a good chance that California’s decision to boost its RPS will increase the price for 
renewables, Karier said.  That will push utilities to the cap sooner, he added. 

At the end of the issues discussion, Booth asked about next steps for completing the plan.  Eden 
reported that staff needs 24 days of computer time to complete the analyses.  In December, we 
will bring forth as much as is complete, she said, adding that it may be possible to vote on pieces 
of the plan.   

The electricity wholesale price forecast will be done next week, and we'll know about any 
significant changes to the resource strategy by then, Morlan said.  By the December meeting, we 



 8

won't be done with all the scenarios and runs, but "we'll have a lot of information to throw at 
you," he told the Council. 

Looking at what staff has brought us so far, I haven't heard too much disagreement or debate, 
Booth commented.  It appears that you still need to make a decision on increasing or decreasing 
the conservation goals, he said.  There were no objections at the Power Committee meeting this 
morning to the staff's recommendations on those goals, noted Eden.  What is the goal for the first 
five years? Booth asked.  The recommendation is to not change the target, Morlan replied. 

Booth asked if staff can proceed with drafting the final plan in most of the major policy areas, 
and Morlan said yes.  At this point, I don't see a major policy challenge or issue that has 
surfaced, but there is a lot of technical work for staff to do, Karier noted.   

4. Report on conservation achievements for 2008:   
Tom Eckman, conservation resources manager; and Charlie Grist, senior analyst. 

The region gained 235 megawatts of conservation in 2008, according to staffer Tom Eckman.  
The Regional Technical Forum’s (RTF) survey of utility conservation achievements for 2008 
was completed at the end of October, and the results represent 127 utilities and 99 percent of the 
region’s load, he said.  We saw the largest-ever annual gain in 2008, Eckman said.   

We have exceeded the conservation targets in the Fifth Power Plan in each of the last four years, 
he reported, and the region exceeded the plan’s five-year goal in four years.  Eckman noted that 
the target in 2008 was less than 150 MW.   

We have gained over 700 MW in five years, and a preliminary look at what’s happening in 2009 
indicates we are probably going to exceed 200 aMW again, he said.  That will put us at 900 to 
1,000 MW of conservation in five years, Eckman added.   

Most of the megawatts, nearly 150, were gained through BPA, utility, and state programs.  The 
remainder came from Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance (NEEA) market effects, as well as 
“non-program market effects,” such as changes in appliance efficiency standards, Eckman said. 

In local programs, the residential sector accounts for 48 percent of the savings and the 
commercial sector for 31 percent, he said.  Other contributors include industrial (19 percent); 
agriculture/irrigation (3 percent); and low-income weatherization (3 percent).   

The NEEA savings are weighted heavily by savings in residential lighting (70 percent), primarily 
from compact fluorescent light bulbs (CFLs), Eckman continued.  When you combine the 
NEEA-related savings with the by-sector savings, the residential category makes up 59 percent, 
he said.   

The region spent at least $250 million to achieve the 2008 savings, Eckman said, adding that not 
all utilities in the RTF survey reported expenditures.  These savings came at a cost of about $1.5 
million per average MW, he noted.  The investments going forward will be significantly higher 
as we get into more expensive measures, Eckman stated.   



 9

Staffer Charlie Grist pointed out that the large success of the residential lighting program kept 
costs down.  We got more from that sector than we anticipated, and “it was very cheap,” he said. 

Since 1978, we have developed nearly 4,000 average MW of conservation in the Northwest, 
Eckman said.  About one-half of that, 2,000 aMW, is from BPA and utility programs, he added.   

Conservation is the third largest resource in the Northwest now – only hydro and coal are larger, 
Eckman said.  And going forward, we will see energy efficiency growing as a share of resources, 
he stated.  We’re saving more than the annual output of two Grand Coulee dams, Eckman 
wrapped up. 

Council chair Bill Booth asked about the Grand Coulee Dam statement.  Grand Coulee is 6,000 
MW on peak, he said.  Eckman responded that the statement refers to the annual critical-water 
energy output of the dam.  Booth said it is important to talk about capacity and that it should be 
shown, too. 

Eckman pointed out that the RTF website has more data about the conservation savings.  We’ll 
be posting the three years of data, and you can see the trends, he added. 

Dick Wallace said the  industrial sector seems to underperform and be underinvested, Wallace 
continued.  Are there programs in the works to advance the industrial programs? he asked. 

Grist said that there is an action item in the power plan that calls for a redoubled effort in the 
industrial sector, and BPA recently put out a request for proposals (RFP) for industrial 
customers.  Industrial savings require a different approach – it’s more complicated, he added.   

Eckman noted that the Northwest Food Processors submitted comments on the Sixth Power Plan 
that indicate they have established a goal for energy efficiency, aiming to increase efficiency 25 
percent by 2020.  They are aligned with the idea of more efficiency and cost-effectiveness, he 
said. 

Booth noted the results from the CFL program were spectacular, he said.  Will that program 
continue? Booth asked.   

Eckman said the CFL program will go forward for another two years. 

5. Update on the Wildlife Crediting Forum:   
Peter Paquet, manager, wildlife and resident fish. 

Staffer Peter Paquet gave an update on planning for a Wildlife Mitigation Crediting Forum to 
resolve issues about accounting for habitat units acquired and developing a database to track 
them.  Staff has discussed the forum with potential participants and sent out formal letters of 
invitation to tribal, state, and federal fish and wildlife managers, as well as to BPA and its 
customers, he reported. 

We received three responses – from Parametrix, DS Associates, and Bob Lohn – to the RFP sent 
out in mid-September to facilitate the forum, and we will have a facilitator selected by next 
week, Paquet said.  The first meeting of the forum will be right after the first of the year, and we 



 10

anticipate holding about eight meetings, he added.  BPA is working to pull together information 
so the forum members will have a complete ledger of acquisitions when the process begins.   

6. Council decision on initiating Fish and Wildlife Program amendment 
process to add the proposed subbasin plans for the Bitterroot and 
Blackfoot subbasins:   
Lynn Palensky, Program Planning and Special Projects Coordinator; and Kerry Berg, 
Montana staff member. 

The Council received subbasin plans for the Bitterroot and Blackfoot subbasins in September, 
according to staffer Lynn Palensky.  The Montana Water Trust recommended the Bitterroot 
subbasin, and Trout Unlimited recommended the Blackfoot as amendments to the Council’s 
F&W program, she said.  Staff recommends opening a narrowly focused program amendment 
process to consider the plans, Palensky reported.   

If the Council approves, we will post the plans and start taking recommendations, she stated.  
Palensky pointed out that the Council would take comments for 90 days and that only 
recommendations pertaining to the two Montana subbasins would be accepted. 

Shurts clarified that the Council would be voting to open its F&W program amendment process.  
The draft subbasin plans are already submitted and most comments will likely focus on what we 
have, he said.   

Measure made a motion that the Council begin a Fish and Wildlife Program amendment process 
focused only on whether to add subbasin plans for the Bitterroot and Blackfoot Subbasins, treat 
the proposed subbasin plans the Council received as recommendations for program amendments, 
authorize the Executive Director to sign the letter requesting comments on the recommended 
plans and additional recommendations related to those two subbasins, and direct the staff to give 
appropriate notice of its action, as presented by the staff and recommended by the Fish and 
Wildlife Committee.  Eden seconded the motion, which passed unanimously. 

7. Council Business 
 ISRP peer review group appointments 

Staffer Eric Merrill explained that the ISRP maintains a pool of peer reviewers to augment its 
expertise.  We have a pool of 156 scientists and have used 48 of them to assist the ISRP, he said.  
It is a good idea to refresh the pool with new members, and Merrill said 12 candidates were 
recommended by the National Research Council.  We want to add them to the existing pool, he 
said.  Merrill added that being in the pool of peer reviewers is a good way to acquaint new 
scientists with the ISRP program.  

Measure made a motion that the Council appoint 12 scientists to the pool of Independent 
Scientific Review Panel Peer Review Group Members:  David Bennett, Edward O. Garton, 
Evelyn Pinkerton, Fred Whorisky, Gregory Ruggerone, Jeff Kershener, Jim Congleton, John 
Nestler, Peter Klingeman, Robert Van Kirk, Steve Railsback, and Tim McDaniels.  Eden 



 11

seconded the motion which passed with seven votes.  Wallace abstained from the discussion and 
vote. 

 Release of Annual Report to Congress for public review 
Staffer Mark Walker reported that the Council’s Annual Report to Congress is ready for public 
review.  We have circulated the draft to Council members and it now needs to go out for 90 days 
of public comment before it goes to Congress, he said. 

Council members said they would like time to see if there are further edits before the report is 
circulated.  Booth asked that any changes be sent to John Harrison by November 20, and release 
the report for comment following that, he said. 

Measure made a motion that the Council release for a 90-day public comment period the draft 
annual report to Congress for Fiscal Year 2009, subsequent to a one-week additional comment 
period for Council members, inclusion of their comments subject to consensus of Council 
members on those comments, and direct the staff to give appropriate notice of its action.  Karier 
seconded the motion, which passed unanimously. 

 Approval of minutes 
Measure made a motion that the Council approve for the signature of the Vice-Chair the minutes 
of the October 7-8, 2009 Council meeting held in Sun Valley, Idaho.  Whiting seconded the 
motion, which passed unanimously. 

The meeting adjourned at 11:30 a.m.  

Approved December 9, 2009 

 

/s/ Bruce Measure 

Vice-Chair 

 

x:\jh\ww\minutes\nov09 short version.doc 


